

Women in Terrorism: Motivations for joining the Islamic State Kropf, Sarah

Citation

Kropf, S. (2022). Women in Terrorism: Motivations for joining the Islamic State.

Version: Not Applicable (or Unknown)

License: License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master thesis in

the Leiden University Student Repository

Downloaded from: https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3455504

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).



Women in Terrorism: Motivations for joining the Islamic State

Sarah Kropf S3046192

MA International Relations: Global Conflict in the Modern Era

Supervisor: Prof. dr. I.G.B.M Isabelle Duyvesteyn

Second Reader: Dr. E. van der Maat

22 August 2022

Word Count:13834

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Duyvesteyn for her time, patience, and support in helping me complete this thesis. I would also like to thank Dr. Guy Lamb for all his inputs.

Finally, a special thank you to my parents who have made all this possible and for their unwavering support and encouragement.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	3
Chapter 2: Literature Review	5
2.1 Terrorism	5
2.2 Females in Terrorism	7
2.3 Understanding and Discussing Female Motivations	9
Chapter 3: Research Design and Methodology	
3.1 Case Selection	19
3.2 Source Selection	19
3.3 Methodology	19
Chapter 4: The Islamic State	22
4.1 History of IS	22
4.2 Women in IS	24
Chapter 5: 4Rs plus one	26
5.1 Revenge	26
5.2 Redemption	27
5.3 Relationship	27
5.4 Respect	28
5.5 Rape	28
Chapter 6: Conclusion	31
Reference List	32

Chapter 1: Introduction

Historically, women have been participants in terrorism but are often dismissed as only being incidental and marginal participants of terrorist violence. Women are seen as victims of violence rather than as possible perpetrators (Bloom, 2005:56). Despite growing awareness of the agency, influence, and role that women play in terrorist groups, they are still responded to with surprise (Patel and Westermann, 2018:54). Scholarly attention on women as key players in terrorist groups has lately increased due to the rise in female suicide bombers in the last decade (Spencer, 2016:76). Women are no longer seen as serving only supporting roles such as caretakers and nurturers to their male counterparts. It is important to recognize their participation, because dismissing their role could lead to the neglect of important aspects and characteristics of terrorist activity, and ultimately negatively impact the containment of and the fight against terrorism.

In March 2019, the Islamic State (IS) lost control of their territory (Ali, 2020:79) but the appeal of *jihad* remains (Khalil, 2019:1). Despite this overall major setback for the group, reports about the presence and commitment of female members continue to emerge. Nearly three years after the fall of the Caliphate, the presence of IS women in Syria and Iraq persists with evidence to support this claim. One example is Alicia Fluke-Ekren, a teacher from Kansas, United States, who visited Libya, Iraq, and Syria with an intention of waging war. She trained more than 100 women and girls including her own daughter and commanded an all-female battalion during her rise within the IS. Mrs. Fluke-Ekren appears to have had all intentions to die a martyr defending the Caliphate even after her daughter had gone back to Kansas in 2017 and despite the death of her second, third and fourth husband (Rizzo, 2022). Only in 2021 was she apprehended and held captive in Syria by unidentified forces before her extradition in early 2022 (Goldman, 2022). Furthermore, IS women, many of which were wives of IS soldiers, have been kept in custody by Syrian forces. The female detainees have been moved from their original place of internment, the al Hol Camp, to more secure locations to prevent weekly escapes which were becoming the norm. Women disappear either back to the Islamic State or similar groups, with a few returning to their home countries or reappearing across the border in Turkey (Speckhard, 2020). As demonstrated by the evidence, we can observe that despite the fall of the Caliphate, at least some of the women are still a possible threat for the resurgence of IS with their persisting commitment to escape back to the network.

This thesis focuses on the motivations behind women's commitment to joining terrorist networks, specifically IS. Highlighting and recognizing the agency and influence these women hold is essential to understand the threat they pose. The aim of this thesis is to understand and explore these complex motivations beyond the common assumptions by analyzing the Islamic State of Iraq and Syria women in *jihad*. Khalil (2019:1) states that women hold an important role in jihad and since the inception of IS, the scope of female terrorists has increased.

This thesis will present a single case study analysis of women in IS, which remains a relevant and operating terrorist group with a high number of female activists. It will do so utilizing Mia Bloom's 4Rs plus one theory, which sets forth 5 personal factors as possible motivations: revenge, redemption, relationship, respect, and rape (Bloom, 2012: 235). The thesis is guided by the question: "To what extent does Mia Bloom's 4Rs plus one theory explain the motivations of women joining the Islamic State?". The time frame examined from the rise of the Islamic State Caliphate in 2014 until the present. This study is important because it can elucidate the wider question of female terrorists and take a step closer to understanding the phenomenon of modern terrorism and essentially countering it (Khalil, 2019).

The structure of this thesis is as follows; chapter two following this introduction will discuss existing literature on the phenomenon of terrorism in relation to definitions, types of terrorism, the history of women in terrorism, the debate around motivations of women in terrorism and the 4Rs plus one framework presented by Bloom (2012). Chapter three will subsequently discuss the research design and method of this thesis. Chapter four will contextualize the case study of the Islamic State, women in the Islamic State and general motivations they hold. The fifth chapter will apply the 4Rs plus one framework to the Islamic State by discussing and analyzing each individual factor and present the findings. Finally, chapter six will present a conclusion.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Terrorism

Terrorism is not a new phenomenon. According to modern history it dates back to the late nineteenth century (Rapoport, 2004:47). However, there has been more focus on terrorism in literature since the 11 September 2001 attack in the United States, for which the terrorist group Al Qaeda took responsibility, with a significant increase of researchers studying terrorism than ever before (Bergen, 2006 & Silke, 2008:27). Sandler (2014:264) writes that there is no consensus regarding the root causes of terrorism. Schmid (2005:127), in agreement, writes that terrorism is a "seemingly straightforward concept but in reality, one of considerable complexity".

This complexity is shown by the numerous categories of terrorism literature. For example, there is a variety of arguments and debates surrounding the definition of terrorism and as such there is no universally accepted definition of the concept. Scholar Alex Schmid (2004) attempted to bring order to the disputed definition of terrorism, by discussing the factors that would encourage future terrorism if the complexity of the concept of terrorism is not acknowledged, and why it is important to have a common understanding (Schmid, 2004:381). Schmid further quotes his own definition containing 16 elements, known in academia as the 'academic consensus definition' (2004:382):

Terrorism is an [1] anxiety-inspiring method of repeated [2] violent action, employed by (semi-) [3] clandestine individual, group, or state actors, for [4] idiosyncratic, criminal, or political reasons, whereby - in contrast to assassination - the direct targets of violence are not the main targets. The [5] immediate human victims of violence are generally chosen [6] randomly (targets of opportunity) or [7] selectively (representative or symbolic targets) from a target population and serve as message generators. [8] Threat- and violence-based [9] communication processes between terrorist (organization), (imperiled) victims, and main targets are used to [10] manipulate the main target (audience(s)), turning it into a [11] target of terror, a [12] target of demands, or a [13] target of attention, depending on whether [14] intimidation, [15] coercion, or [16] propaganda is primarily sought.

The preceding definition is a rich interpretation of the concept of terrorism. To problematize it, it should be noted that Schmid wrote this definition in 2004, and it is important to distinguish that terrorism is not a static phenomenon.

From another perspective, Sandler (2014:257) writes for violence to qualify as an act of terror, the attack must have a political, social, or ideological objective. Taking a broader approach, Garrison (2003:40) writes that "terrorism is the use of violence to create fear in the larger audience in order to create change in that larger audience" with the use of "fear and intimidation". In a similar vein, Pinto (2019:1) argues that "terrorism is not a goal, but a means to an end".

Moving beyond the general definitions, as previously mentioned, it is important to recognize that terrorism is not a static phenomenon. One scholar at the forefront of this idea is David Rapoport and his Four Waves theory (2002) which is often used as a framework in academia in this field. Parker and Sitter (2015:198) write that Rapoport's article is one of the most influential contributions to the terrorism studies field and has been frequently referenced since. In this theory, Rapoport suggests that acts of terrorism come in waves, which he defines as "a cycle of activity in a given time period – a cycle characterized by expansion and contraction phases" (Rapoport, 2004:47). Rapoport suggests that the world has experienced four waves of terrorism, with the first wave beginning in the 1880s with the dawn of modern terrorism. Rapoport defines the dawn of modern terrorism with the invention of the blasting cap for detonating nitroglycerin in 1863 by Alfred Nobel (Gupta, 2009:110). Each wave is suggested to last approximately 40 years, which places us in the fourth wave; religious fundamentalism which has been on the rise since 1979 (Weinberg and Eubank, 2010:596; Gupta, 2009:113). Many scholars have focused on the fourth wave of religious fundamentalism.

The rise of religious terrorism can be attributed to two trends; "the global resurgence of religion in response to the perceived destruction of religious values by corrupt and self-serving secular political orders" and, at the same time, "that religion has come under unprecedented assault from governmental religious restrictions, communal hostilities involving religions, and religiously-based civil wars- the withering of religious security" (Saiya, 2015:56). It can be explained as a staunch commitment to a religion and interpreting the religious system as a deviant form (Jurgensmeyer, 2004 in Rausch, 2015:29). Furthermore,

it has been observed that the use of indiscriminate violence to achieve their goals is a more likely approach adopted by religious terrorists (do Céu Pinto, 2004:23).

Post September 11, 2001, attacks in the United States, "the threat of Islamic terrorism – rooted in the Middle East and South Asia – has taken center stage" (Moore). Badey (2002:83) states that Islamic fundamentalist extremism is a major influence in international terrorism. Although there is terrorism emanating from other religious groups claiming to be Jewish or Christian, Islamist terrorism is seen as the most violent (Schmid, 2017:6). The problems being addressed vary from social to political, however in Islam there is no separation of the religious and the political and "Islam is the solution" to everything (Bar, 2004:29). It is important to note that what many call terrorism is perceived as *jihad* by Islamists (Holtmann, 2014:140), which can be understood as a "religiously inspired effort or struggle towards a goal of spiritual, personal, political or military nature" (Kusserow and Pawlak, 2015:1). The Islamic State are considered as jihadist, advocating an unforgiving and untainted vision of jihad (Hafez, 2020:40). This context is important to keep in mind regarding this research.

2.2 Females in Terrorism

Despite a long history of women joining, engaging in, and supporting terrorism "in 60 percent of rebel groups over the last few decades" (Bigio and Vogelstein, 2019:3), the phenomenon is often met with surprise or denial (Davis, West and Amarasingam, 2021:58). The surprise or denial can be attributed to women violating existing gender stereotypes and the neglect of women in terrorism research entirely (Banks, 2019:82). Sjoberg and Gentry (2016:24) highlight that scholars should not be surprised when they hear of female perpetrated violence nor should it be assumed that their reasons for violence are significantly different to those of their male counterparts. To fully understand and analyze terrorists and terrorism, it is essential to view women as complex actors able to make their own independent choices. If women are continually seen as secondary actors to males, or as victims, then it leads to an insufficient comprehension of women in terrorism. Furthermore, the lack of integration of women into the terrorism literature will negatively influence practitioners in counterterrorism activities (Davis, West and Amarasingam, 2021:58).

A notable case studied in the literature suggests that the onset of terrorism in Russia can be attributed to a female, Vera Zasulich, who is known for her attack on the Saint Petersburg Chief of Police in 1878. In the following year, the first terrorist party of Russia was

established, Narodnaya Volya (People's Will), which had ten female members out of a total of twenty-nine (Knight, 1979:139). Furthermore, it was a woman, Vera Nikolaeyna Figner, that played a noteworthy role in the planning of the assassination of Czar Alexander II in Saint Petersburg (Hartnett, 2001:252). Sofia Perovskaya was another member of the Narodnaya Volya (People's Will) who was involved with the planning and assassination of the Czar. She is known as the first female who was hanged for a political crime in Russia (Petrusenko, 2018:75). Later, in the 1970s Germany saw an eruption of females involved in terrorism with the formation of West Germany's Red Army Faction (RAF) formed in 1970. The RAF was also known as the Baader-Meinhof Gang. Meinhof is the surname of one of the two female founding members, the journalist Ulrike Meinhof (Grisard, 2014:83). In the same time period, the fight for national liberation in Palestine also saw a fair share of women participants. The Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PLFP) was established in 1967 (Irving, 2012:27). Leila Khaled and Dalal el Moughrabi were both involved in the liberation movement and members of the PLFP from the onset. They are specifically known for their participation in hijacking operations, as Leila Khaled was the first ever woman to hijack an aircraft (Naaman, 2007:933; Hasso, 2005:25).

The world has also seen women become active in terrorist activity in the 1980s with the recruitment and deployment of female suicide bombers by the Hezbollah - a Lebanese Shia Islamist militant group, and Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam - a Tamil militant group based in Sri Lanka whose well known female battalions held a fierce reputation (Bigio and Vogelstein, 2019:3). In addition, there have been female terrorist actors in the Shining Path in Peru, the Irish Republican Army in Northern Ireland, and the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia, in which women made up nearly 40 percent of members (Bigio and Vogelstein, 2019:3). In early 2002, Wafa Idris, a twenty-seven-year-old woman, became the first Palestinian suicide bomber in the Palestine-Israeli conflict.

The above-mentioned groups provide evidence of female membership and engagement in suicide terrorism across the world (Banks, 2019:182). The wakeup call attack was when Belgium-born Muriel Degauque detonated a bomb in a police station in Baghdad in November of 2005, killing herself, five others and injuring many others. Degauque was the first European suicide bomber on record, and her background and family life contradicted assumptions about female perpetrators of terrorism. This instance brought to light how little we knew about the growing threat women pose as terrorist actors (Jacques and Taylor, 2013:35). Speckhard and

Ellenberg (2020) draw attention to the fact that IS holds the largest count of female members compared to any other militant terrorist group. Initially women were recruited as wives and mothers of the future generation of IS, but then their roles evolved over time into online recruiters, teachers, nurses, messengers, snipers, and suicide bombers. This variety of possible roles for women "demonstrates the spectrum of female motivations for joining" (Speckhard & Ellenberg, 2020). This provides further evidence that when analyzed, the reasons for womens' involvement as only secondary roles or caretaking responsibilities is inaccurate.

2.3 Understanding and Discussing Female Motivations

Literature within terrorism studies suggests that there is "no one theoretical perspective that can provide an all-encompassing explanation of terrorism". Instead, there are various theories that can explain and aid us in a deeper understanding of some aspects of terrorism (Schwartz, Dunkel and Waterman, 2009:538). Political science has dominated the field of terrorism studies, however, Duyvesteyn (2004:440) notes that other fields such as law, psychology, social science, and history have also made contributions. There are numerous explanatory mechanisms to explain and/or help us understand the motivations for women to join terrorist networks. A discussion of the debate around common explanations regarding motivations for women joining terrorist groups will ensue. Experts in the field of terrorism studies suggest broadly that for a lot of the same personal motivations that entice men to join terrorist networks, those same psychological, personal, social, economic, and political factors are the same for women (Orav, Shreeves and Radjenovic, 2018:3).

Significant literature exists exploring how women join terrorist groups, suggesting that this question can be answered by either individual or organizational factors. The individual factors can be divided into the two categories of push and pull factors (Termeer and Duyvesteyn, 2022:464. Pull factors are more focused on the individual and utilize incentives, such as pride, political motives, and image (Salcedo, 2019; Tarras-Wahlberg, 2020:4). Furthermore, Bakker and de Leede (2015:6) express that research demonstrates that acceptance and belonging can be another pull factor. It is apparent from studies, that the combination of one or more factors mentioned leads to heightened motive to join and engage with terrorist networks (Tarras-Wahlberg, 2020:4). Phelan (2020:4) advocates, similarly to Bloom (2012) that the chances are much higher for women to join terrorist groups when there is a personal connection.

Push factors, on the other hand, suggest that individuals are more inclined to join terrorist networks due to individual, political circumstances and/or social situations, such as weak economic circumstances, familial and/or romantic relationships and revenge (Salcedo, 2019). The Centre on Global Counterterrorism Cooperation (CGCC) suggests adding grief and aspiration to create distinct societal changes to the list of push factors (Fink, Shetret and Barakat: 2013:3). In addition, Mahmood (2019:13) writes that "women's motivations are cast as personal and gendered".

Although some motivations to join terrorist networks might be gender neutral, it does not imply that there are no differences between male and female motivations (Bakker and de Leede, 2015:5). The CGCC takes it a step further by claiming that there is a gender dimension to be considered and that some factors are specific to men or women (Orav, Shreeves, Radjenovic, 2018:3). The Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe emphasized several gender discrepancies as factors, including inequality, lack of opportunity, oppression and violence against women, leading to the assumption that women participate and join terrorist networks to establish themselves and gain respect and equal treatment by their male counterparts (Orav, Shreeves and Radjenovic, 2018:3). It is important to consider a certain gender dimension because women and men might be more vulnerable to specific motivations. In this context, personal trauma has also been listed as an important motivation for women. Experiences of personal trauma may vary; however, studies have brought attention to rape as a specific motivator common to female suicide bombers. In specific societies, honor is associated with their commitment to sexual piety and consequently will bring shame on the family if they are raped (Orav, Shreeves and Radjenovic, 2018:3).

Despite the plausible motivations suggested by the literature, there are still some varying explanations for women's motivations to join terrorist networks. As discussed above, personal, and private reasons are often advocated as the main motivations, but Cunningham (2003) disagrees. Cunningham (2003) instead claims that women's motivations are more collective and dualistic in nature in the sense that they combine collective and individual motivations. She further writes that the claim that women only engage in violence for personal reasons suggests that their decision to partake is unconscious and they are lured in unwillingly (Cunningham, 2003:186). This assumes a lack of rational agency of women, portraying them as victims rather than perpetrators. Similarly, Jacques and Taylor (2008:308) are in agreement that motivations tend to hold a dualistic nature of personal and ideological, instead of being

purely religious, for example. Clearly, the discussion of gendered motivations presents a disconnect between the aforementioned claim that men and women have the same motivational factors and shows a gap in the understanding of gender-based push and pull factors.

2.3.1 4Rs Plus One

Similarly, to Mahmood (2019) suggesting that women's motivations are personal and gendered, the literature has shown that several scholars have analyzed female radicalization "in personal terms" (Pearson and Winterbotham, 2017:62). Mia Bloom highlights five personal categories for analysis to emphasize the role of the personal, which has been criticized as contributing to existing stereotypes. However, women, just like men, join terrorist groups for a variety of reasons, which can also be personal or political (Pearson and Winterbotham, 2017:62). However, for the context of this thesis, the personal is separate from the political. The personal includes the individualistic motivations and the political would refer to ideological and nationalist ideas. Bloom's theory focusses solely on what is understood as the personal and neglects to include political motivations. Therefore, the research conducted will focus primarily on the personal, but it is evident this can be seen as an oversight.

Mia Bloom is one of the leading experts on terrorism among females and covers the involvement of women in many different terrorist groups around the world, with her books *Bombshell: The Many Faces of Women Terrorists* and *Dying to kill: the Allure of Suicide Terror* being cited and used by many scholars. Bloom explores motivations among females to join terrorist groups along with the roles that women play within many groups. Her work *Bombshell: Women and Terror* published in 2012 is an important contribution to the study of the emergence, motivations, and consequences of female terrorism. Schweitzer (2012:80) writes that the book fits in with the growing body of literature, "wherein academic researchers have chosen to deal with the matter in a popular rather than academic manner, so as to deepen the wider publics' understanding of the phenomenon". Furthermore, Bloom (2012) develops her own theoretical framework to reveal and explain the main motives behind female participation. It is important to take note of their involvement for academic purposes, policy, and strategic objectives and to further understand the increasingly complex world terrorists operate in. Brettschneider (2014) argues that society is unprepared for the growing and evolving roles women hold in terrorist groups.

Brettschneider (2014:2), in her review of Mia Bloom's, *Bombshell: The Many Faces of Women Terrorists*, also writes that Bloom offers us the overlapping framework, "The Four Rs Plus One". This framework can be used to analyze different groups, with varying conflicts and geographical locations. Furthermore, the intention of the book other than being a contribution to the field was to provide accessible knowledge to non-specialists as well. However, Brettschneider (2014:3) presents a criticism as well, by stating that Bloom should consider analyzing a U.S Christian group as a case study. This proves to be a major oversight, considering the growing concern and increase in right-wing terrorist attacks throughout Europe and the United States (Coolsaet and Renard, 2022). Furthermore, this neglect of acknowledging the growing threat of right-wing extremism by Bloom (2012) could be due to the claim that "the gradual rise of right-wing extremism occurred mostly in the shadow of the jihadi threat" (Coolsaet and Renard, 2022). Despite these shortcomings, the paper falls more in line with Pinto's view (2019:4), who writes that the framework is sufficient when explaining "the affiliation of women living in Islamic countries where the cultural pattern is very vigorous" because the case study of IS is utilized.

This paper will capitalize on Mia Bloom's 4Rs plus one theory. The four Rs include: Revenge, Redemption, Relationship, Respect, and the plus one, Rape. Bloom (2012:235) summarizes the R's as follows:

"Revenge can be understood as an act of vengeance for a lost loved one or against an oppressive entity such as the state. Redemption is seen as women attempting to repent their sins in the form of sacrifice. This sacrifice is often seen through suicide bombing. Relationships imply that because of a close family member, friend, or partner is what links you to a certain group. Relationships are a strong factor when analyzing women's engagement. The fifth and final R is for rape. Rape can be understood as sexual assault. Rape is often used as a recruitment tool in conflict environments" (Bloom, 2012:235).

This is evident with the IS in Iraq and Syria, where rape was used to motivate women to join the group, willingly or through pressure. One can say that rape as a motivating factor bears a connection with redemption. Women who were raped and could not return home due to cultural values, often felt they had no other alternative than to sacrifice themselves and commit themselves to participate in suicide attacks, making them vulnerable to the recruitment

by networks seeking suicide bombers (Bloom, 2007:102). Terrorist organizations utilize this to their benefit (Bloom, 2012:236). It is also important to note that these 5 factors are not static and greatly overlap and coexist with one another (Brettschneider, 2014). The theory was successfully used to analyze the women in LTTE by Bloom (2012) and could prove to be a useful tool for analyzing other terrorist groups with female members. This theory was chosen to test a different case study to see whether it is universally applicable to all terrorist groups that have female involvement.

To offer a full theoretical background of each R, this research will engage in a discussion regarding each of the five R's, respectively.

Revenge

Schmid (2013:2) writes that an individual or collective desire for revenge is enough reason to engage in terrorist activity. The discussion of revenge as a factor motivating the participation in terrorism is not a new one, as it has been used as a common explanation when analyzing motives (Silke, 2003 in Jacques and Taylor, 2008:307). Authors have suggested that a simple summary of the motivations instigating terrorism are "revenge, renown, and reaction" (Bruce, 2013). The revenge motivation can be categorized into two broad terms; a personal term which would be the death of a loved one, or a broader term which could be anger towards the West and their treatment of Muslims. Bloom focuses more on the personal narrow term; she writes "revenge for the death of a close family member is most often cited as the key factor that inspired a woman to get involved in the first place" (Bloom, 2012:235). Pinto (2019:4) furthers the argument of the broader term of revenge and writes that often ideological and mental brainwashing results in the suggestion that the West "is the devil that must be defeated" and requires vengeance to be adopted towards the West.

It is important to note that this information is difficult to gather although there exists some data collection of a limited amount of failed suicide attack missions, and/or pre-attack letters or recordings (Bruce, 2013). Evidently, literature has suggested that suicide attackers have claimed revenge as a dominant motivator. Research demonstrates that revenge has been cited as a motivation for both female and male suicide attackers, with no evidence suggesting that males are more vengeful than females (Jacques and Taylor, 2008:307). Many Islamic terrorists are fueled by a desire to seek revenge and make a violent declaration to convey their hatred for what they see to be a war on Islam (Mueller and Stewart, 2012:14). As witnessed in

the cases of many of Chechnya's Black Widows, proactive searching may be motivated by revenge or anger brought on by a turning point in the subject's life (Jacques and Taylor, 2008:310). Furthermore, a study of 67 Palestinian suicide bombers conducted by Saleh (2004:24) confirms that many were attacking for the purpose of revenge, with one Hamas attacker who left a letter for his family where he writes revenge as one of his motivations. The motivation of revenge can extend to extreme levels of hatred and the intent of total annihilation of the perceived or actual enemy. Sheikh (2016:64) writes that interviews with Danish foreign fighters reveal that IS was viewed as an entity to restore religious pride in Islam and they also argued that by legitimizing the IS network, they were seeking revenge against the West.

Speckhard (2015) looks closer at the revenge factor in terms of women. She (2015:7) states that women who are victims of sexual violence often turn to terrorist networks with a desire for revenge, which is likely to be against the opposing entity. Furthermore, women often act with a desire for revenge in cases where they are troubled by the difficulties faced by Muslims and the belief that they are under attack, which prompts reaction by the IS narrative. Research has shown that in conflict zones such as Palestine, women are inspired to partake by their motive of revenge. In an interview, Arin Ahmed, a Palestinian student, revealed that after her boyfriend was killed by an Israeli missile attack, she was ready to abandon her future and volunteered herself for a suicide attack (Speckhard, 2012 in Speckhard, 2015:8).

Redemption

Schmid (2013) writes that no single motivation can lead people to terrorism, but it is a combination of varying factors. Participants "...join for personal advantage, which might include access to criminal networks to enhance income, thrill seeking for those looking for excitement, or redemption for those wanting to atone for previous misdemeanours" (Moghaddam, 2009 in Schmid, 2013:22). Angry, troubled, and frustrated individuals who often have histories of abuse and traumatic childhood experiences that engage in crime and violence are often those that believe extremist/terrorist networks can be a means of redemption. These networks often provide a false sense of purpose to these individuals by validating their frustrations by encouraging these feelings and violent behavior (Bjørgo and Munden, 2020).

Salcedo (2019) narrows the scope of this factor to focus on women in the statement that, "redemption and honor motivate women to join terrorist organizations". In an analysis of Martha Crenshaw's six organizational motives, one of them was "the group offers a path to

redemption" (Dawson, 2021:8). However, Dawson (2021:8) further states that there is no "independent psychology of redemption" according to scholars of religion. The term redemption itself is suggestive of religion and holds symbolic value of partaking and upholding a shared religious heritage, which in the case of the IS network is Islam. Finding purpose and belonging in religious groups provides protection from feelings of social exclusion. This feeling of sharing and support of religious heritage can motivate individuals to develop violent attitudes towards others (de Graaf and van den Bos, 2021:57). Bloom (2012:235) writes that women appear to want redemption for past indiscretions. Women in illicit relationships often consider martyrdom as their only option to repent their sins. Martyrdom is seen as a way of regaining pride and washing away any previous sin.

Relationship

The third R of Bloom's (2012) framework is relationship, which is an important motivating factor to understand. Bloom (2012:236) writes that a strong predictor of women joining terrorist networks is her affiliation with a romantic, familial, or friendly member who is engaging in terrorism. This is not a new motivator, as women throughout history have joined "battles alongside their husbands and sons" (Bjørgum, 2016:94). According to Jones (2007), relatives and/or partners are the bridge between the terrorist group and the female individual, whether they join out of free will or are forced to. When analyzing female terrorists and their histories, pressure from male relatives is a recurring factor (Darden, 2019:6). The relationship aspect of the framework can most commonly be divided into two categories: romantic relationships and the sisterhood.

Bloom writes that in some cultures, women's actions are controlled by the men in their lives, who sometimes even have the power over their life and death (2012:236). In some groups that are very concerned about privacy and infiltration, the male member will vouch for reliability of their female tie. These relationship ties are supported to develop network unity. For example, in analyses on female motivations for joining Jama'at Ahl as-Sunnah lid-Da'wah wa'l -Jihad, known in English as Boko Haram - the active terrorist network in Nigeria, Chad, Niger, and Cameroon – it is clear that because women are often dependent on men, the involvement of their husband or male relative such as a father automatically forces their participation (Okenyodo, 2016:100). This is also observed in the case of IS, through the example of a 22-year-old Belgian national, named Salma, who recalls joining IS after her father had contacted her from Syria. However, once she had moved and realized the reality of the

situation and tried to escape, her father was killed by the network itself (Speckhard, 2020). In the context of the death of a loved one, such an occurrence can make a woman even more determined to stay in IS territory (Hoyle, Bradford and Frenett, 2015:28).

Finding romance in the caliphate proves to be one of the major pull factors drawing both men and women to IS. This idea of a romantic adventure of leaving home to move to the IS territory proves to be particularly attractive to the younger generation. The idea of being rewarded with romance as a prize for traveling to the Caliphate encourages individuals to make the trip (Tarras-Wahlberg, 2020:39). The fantasy of experiencing and being rewarded meaningful romance unlike high school flings appeals to the younger women (Bjørgum, 2016:96). Specific to research on women in the IS, it was revealed that some women move to Syria willingly and freely and others claim to have been forced.

The second but smaller category of relationship is sisterhood. Studies have shown that the idea of belonging to a sisterhood has been influential in motivating women to join terrorist networks, with women expressing that their relationships in the West felt superficial (Saltman and Smith, 2015:15). Social media platforms used by the IS network are filled with promises of creating and finding deep relationships with other women who have moved to the caliphate (Tarras-Wahlberg, 2020:39).

Respect

Respect holds the position of the fourth 'R' in the framework. Bloom (2012: 236) states that women frequently crave the respect of their community, albeit this is usually in conjunction with other motivations. Women try to show that they are as committed and dedicated to the cause as their male counterparts by engaging in violence. Female suicide attackers are portrayed as role models for younger girls. These women achieve fame and heroine status through their deaths. The quest for respect is a significant pull factor for young women who have a desire to do something great with their lives, especially if they have experienced hardship. This desire to win respect by the ones they are surrounded by, can make violence attractive women (Bloom, 2012:236).

A repeated issue is the advice that women will earn the respect of her community from marriage and motherhood as soon as they arrive in the Caliphate (Zakaria, 2015). IS women then use the prospect of respect to entice other females to join the network. In other instances,

the rise of Islamophobia in the West has made the Caliphate appeal to women. Attacks on women wearing Islamic attire like hijabs or burqas have increased hostility, pushing Muslim women to IS. The IS Caliphate was seen as a safe place where women could practice their religion and be treated with honor and respect (de Leede, 2018:46). Another example of this are the Palestinian women who committed suicide attacks between January 2002 and January 2004. These women have been described as outsiders from their society who pursued these suicide attacks in an attempt to restore respect to their families (Cunningham, 2008)

Rape

The final R in Bloom's framework stands for rape. Bloom (2012:237) writes that women are increasingly being sexual exploited in conflicts. Women have been coerced into joining combatant roles through rape especially in Iraq and Chechnya. Rape as a motivating factor holds some likeness to the redemption factor, however the main difference between the two is that women who have willingly committed a shameful act seek redemption, whereas women who are victims of sexual violence join involuntarily. Van Knop (2007:400) writes that women are driven to terrorism to regain honor because of being raped and ostracized by their communities.

In Sri Lanka this was quite common, with many Tamil women who were victims of sexual violence turning to terrorism. These women were seen as unworthy of being married or bearing children. Being unable to fulfil the duty of being a wife due to rape brings up the subject of "sacrifice as an ideal", which is understood as a broad cultural standard that is extended to the sacrifice of oneself for her family (Cunningham, 2003:181). Cunningham (2003:181) claims that self-sacrifice was encouraged in society to overcome the humiliation brought on by rape on both an individual and societal level. Regarding the Middle East, a report in *Yediot Ahronot*, the daily Isreali newspaper, published with regards to Palestinian women in the Beit Lehem area that "this is how terrorist organizations recruit female suicide terrorists to commit suicide attacks: 'If you don't commit a suicide attack, we'll tell people you were raped'" (Issacharoff, 2006:44). With reference to an Islamic terrorism group, Kimberly Pullman left Canada with a history of sexual abuse, moving to Syria to join her husband and restore her honor. However, once she reached Syria, she experienced the same sexual violence with IS men (Speckhard and Ellenberg, 2020:15). This example clearly illustrates that although some women turn to terrorism for refuge, they are not always successful.

It is clear from the literature and evidence discussed above that each R holds some power when looking at motivating factors for women in terrorism.

Chapter 3: Research Design and Methodology

3.1 Case Selection

The research conducted in this thesis focused on the case study of the Islamic State group for two main reasons. First, as literature suggests, it is the terrorist group with the highest number of female members (Perešin, 2015:21). Statistics from July 2018 demonstrate that 4,761 Western women had joined IS out of an estimated 41,490 (Ulas, 2019), and 16% of adult foreign nationals being women (Vale, 2019:2), making it an interesting context in which to study women's motivations. Secondly, Bloom's 4Rs plus one theory had not yet been applied to this case study, which presented an opportunity for this thesis to add to this field of research.

3.2 Source Selection

The majority of the sources used to answer the research question were secondary sources. These consisted of books, journal articles and news articles. The advantages and disadvantages of using secondary sources in research should be acknowledged. Using secondary sources proved to be an advantage in this context due to the low costs and high accessibility it provided (Smith, 2008:332). Furthermore, Smith (2008:332) writes that secondary source analysis is an unobtrusive method to conducting research. However, this thesis analysis was limited to the use of secondary source information only and therefore the information available was not complete. There was a difficulty in obtaining access to first-hand testimonies and interviews, especially those trying to persuade them to share information and experiences, which resulted in a limited amount of primary source data in general and regarding IS in particular (Speckhard and Ellenberg, 2020:83). The available data to facilitate this research was accessed through tumblr accounts belonging to IS women, *Dabiq* which is IS' online propaganda magazine, and academic sources found on Jstor and Google Scholar.

3.3 Methodology

This research analyzed the chosen case and sources through a qualitative case study analysis. Case study research is relatively flexible in comparison to other qualitative research methods, making it a popular approach (Hyett, cited in Hyett, Kenny and Dickson-Swift, 2014:1). The justification for using a case study research design is to capture the complexity of the terrorist group being studied (Stake, cited in Hyett, Kenny and Dickson-Swift, 2014:2).

According to Pathak, Jena and Kalra (2013:192), qualitative methods can be understood as a process or method to follow to explain phenomena that are neither statistical or numerical, and instead uses description and observation for analyses. A qualitative, rather than quantitative, research design was chosen because the goal of this thesis was to analyze various texts to better understand societal occurrences that could observe subjective accuracy over generalization.

This thesis specifically utilized a qualitative theory testing research design because it is an adequate method according to literature and previous studies "to determine whether a theory...depends on a specific context (i.e., cultural, social, or temporal), or has the capability of explaining a phenomenon in other situations, and to identify if the theory is generalizable or transferable to a different context..." (Yin, 2018 in Vargas-Bianchi, 2020:1). For a theory to be constituted as generalizable or transferable, it must be applicable to multiple cases in different contexts. For a theory or framework to be analyzed and reviewed, a deductive approach should be followed (Creswell, 2007; Hyde, 2000; Løkke & Sørensen, 2014; Miller & Crabtree, 2005; Bitektine, 2008 in Vargas-Bianchi, 2020:2). Eisenhardt and Graebner (2007:25) define deductive theory testing as a process of using "data to test theory". Furthermore, when observing a single case study, to keep both the theory and evidence focused throughout research, Eisenhardt and Graebner (2007:29) suggest presenting a complete contextualization combined with supportive evidence. For this method, an already existing theory must be used, and empirical evidence should be collected to either prove or reject the theory based on the findings (Creswell, 2014 in Vargas-Bianchi, 2020:2).

The framework applied to answer the research question of why women join terrorist groups was based on Mia Bloom's framework "Four R's plus One", presented in her book *Bombshell: Women and Terrorism* (Bloom, 2012:235). As summarized above, the four categories of the theory can be simplified to and understood as: revenge as the urge to avenge an enemy for the death of a loved one, redemption as the intention to seek religious pardon for violating a social standard that has tainted a woman's honor, relationship as the recruitment of a female to the terrorist network through a personal relationship, familial, friendly, or romantic, respect as the desire to establish and earn a social status for themselves and often their families and rape is defined as the act of sexual violence against women. The research question was answered with the application of the "Four R's plus One theory" to the Islamic State case study to determine to what extent it holds explanatory power for female motivations to join IS.

This framework has existed for over a decade now and although it has been applied to several terrorist networks that have women participants, it has yet to be applied to the IS. Scholars and experts in the field have used or focused on one element of the framework to look at IS. However, these elements will now be collectively applied to IS under Bloom's 4Rs plus one framework. The limitations of this research should be acknowledged; they include the limited data and difficulty to access the data which does exist. Additionally, only anglophone sources were utilized for this thesis.

Chapter 4: The Islamic State

4.1 History of IS

In order to understand the motivations for joining the organization, even in the case of women it is vital to understand what the group is and how it came to be. When understanding the emergence of IS, it is important to remember that the organization did not emerge out of nothing and is the product of certain circumstances, such as the Iraq war, the Arab Spring, and the ongoing civil war in Syria (Oosterveld, Bloem, Farnham, Kayaoğlu, and Sweijs, 2016/2017:5).

The origins of the IS, also known as ISIS, ISIL and, in the Arabic world, Daesh (Irshaid, 2015) trace back to a Jordanian-Palestinian mujahideen Abu Musab al Zarqawi who was born in October 1966 in Jordan. In 1999, Abu Musab al Zarqawi established the 'Organization of Monotheism in Jihad', known in Arabic as 'Jama'at al-Tawhid wal-Jihad' (Ould Mohamedou, 2014:2). The organization then expanded in 2003 into Iraq and pledged allegiance to the Al Qaeda organization under leader Osama bin Ladin in October 2004 and the group was renamed 'Tanzim Qaidat al Jihad fi Bilad al Rafidayn' in Arabic, or in English as Al Qaeda in Iraq (AQI) (Abbadi, 2015:9). After the US invasion of Iraq in early 2003, Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi became leader of 'Jaish Ahl al Sunnah Wal Jamaah', translated to 'Army of the People of Tradition and Unification', which was active in three provinces: Baghdad, Diyala and Samarra. Later, Al-Baghdadi joined the Mujahidin Shura Council (MSC), a corporation established by Al Qaeda, in Iraq in early 2006 for all active jihadist networks operating in Iraq led by Abu Omar Al-Baghdadi and Abu Ayyub Al-Masri. Abu Omar Al-Baghdadi served in the MSC and was also a member of the Shura Council of the Islamic State of Iraq (ISI) which formed in October 2006 (Abbadi, 2015:9; Alkaff, 2014:5). In November 2006, following the death of al Zarqawi during the Iraq war, the latest leader of AQI, Hamza Muhajir, pledged loyalty to the ISI. However, in 2010 following the death of both the Iraqi jihadist leaders, Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi - the leader of 'Army of the People of Tradition and Unification' - was appointed the leader of ISI (Abbadi, 2015:9; Alkaff, 2014:5).

Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi initially focused on Iraq, but then to facilitate his breakaway from the Al Qaeda network, he began to consider the Syrian situation. The Syrian civil war provided Al-Baghdadi a window of opportunity to expand ISI's presence in Syria (Stenersen, 2020:785). In April 2013, Al-Baghdadi formally announced his intent for ISI and the Nusra

Front to merge into a combined network known as the Islamic State in Iraq and al-Sham (Abdulrazaq and Stansfield, 2016:538). However, despite having accepted some confidential support from the ISI, the Nusra Front managed to break away, which unfortunately led to larger clashes with the Islamic State in Iraq and al-Sham later in 2014 (Lister, 2016:5). The Islamic State in Iraq and al-Sham network officially claimed themselves as a Caliphate, with their leader Al-Baghdadi as the Caliph on the 29 June 2014. It was renamed to 'ad-Dawlah al-Islāmiyah' in Arabic and became more commonly known to the non-Arabic world as 'Islamic State' in English (Roggio, 2014; Oosterveld and Bloem, 2017:8).

In 2014, IS was primarily active in Iraq and Syria with a few attacks in North Africa, Turkey, and Saudi Arabia, but 2015 was considered "a banner year" for the network (Dobbins and Jones, 2017:59). November 2015 saw one of the worst IS attacks in Europe, killing 130 people and wounding another 368 in Paris, France (Hinnant, 2015). On 20th November 2015, at the 7565th United Nations Security Council meeting, IS was declared an "unprecedented threat to international peace and security" (UNSC, 2015). Literature and collected data have suggested that by early 2017, IS controlled population had declined by 56% in Syria and 83% in Iraq compared to 2014 (Dobbins and Jones, 2017:55). The fall of IS began with Mosul, the former capital of IS, being recaptured in 2017. Following their loss of control of Mosul, IS was defeated in Baghouz in 2019. The recapturing of Mosul and eventually of Baghouz in March 2019, symbolized the long-anticipated defeat of the IS Caliphate which at its peak, controlled territory almost the size of the United Kingdom (Almohamad, 2021:2; Al Jazeera, 2019 in Vale, 2019:2). Never had the world seen a jihadist network take control of such vast amounts of territory so quickly (Stenersen, 2020:774). 2019 saw the death of the IS caliph Al-Baghdadi during a United States raid on his hiding place in the Idlib province (Schweitzer, 2019:1).

Following the death of Al-Baghdadi, the IS network announced that Abu Ibrahim al-Hashemi al-Qurayshi, was proclaimed the new Caliph and was believed to be a descendent of Prophet Mohammad himself (Davison, 2022). Along with this public announcement, the group boasted of their expansion beyond the Middle East, despite their huge losses of territory in Syria and Iraq (Callimachi and Schmitt, 2019). Al-Qurayshi was a former soldier during Saddam Hussein's reign and was a religious scholar. He only maintained his role as caliph for approximately two years (Davison, 2022). During a United States raid in Northern Syria in early 2022, al-Qurayshi blew up himself and his family members (Klein, 2022; Davison, 2022). On March 10, 2022, the new leader was announced, Abu Hassan al-Hashimi al-Qurayshi, to

avoid an image of fragmentation. Despite a lack of territorial dominance and decreased human power, IS was adamant to ensure the existence and relevance of their network, with thousands of supportive and inspired individuals across the world but mostly concentrated on the Asian, African continent and the Middle East (Ajjoub, 2022; Dobbins and Jones, 2017:56).

Through the emergence and course of existence of the IS, the group has developed a strong basis of support as well as an anti-West mentality and commits themselves to *jihad*. The sentiment of anti-West is also a large motivating factor towards joining the organization as previously mentioned. This sentiment has been used as an advantage to draw not only male but female members into the group.

Despite the considerations of the reduced IS threat, the network has not been completely disbanded. The group still has potential to rise again. Although IS has not always encouraged women in certain roles, women have remained motivated towards joining the group. A discussion on women in IS followed by the analysis of their motives will follow.

4.2 Women in IS

The Islamic State, unlike other terrorist groups, managed to recruit with "promises and propaganda that was attractive to and that resonated with women" (Speckhard and Ellenberg, 2021:1). Data from 2016, shows that the number of women in the Islamic State is unparalleled when comparing it to other terrorist groups, with 1 in 7 Western members in Syria and Iraq being a woman (Bergen, Sterman, Sims and Ford, 2016:4). IS has built itself a reputation of being a successful recruiter of local and foreign women to their network. In 2015, an estimated 600 women left fair, and gender-liberated societies to join IS and even more from the non-Western world, with an estimated 700 women from Tunisia (Huckerby, 2015). A study conducted in 2019, reconfirmed that the numbers of women in IS had not disappeared, with women compiling 16 percent of the foreign nationals who joined the group (Vale, 2019:2).

The general responsibilities held by IS women include being wives to fighters, bearing children to ensure the future generation of IS, assisting the online recruitment of other women and upholding the order that exists amongst the women in the group, which are all believed to be essential for the network. Although these responsibilities are often underestimated, they contributed significantly to maintaining their regional and international threat (Spencer, 2016:75). These initial responsibilities were more administrative and supportive rather than

operational. The official position held by IS on women in combat shifted between December 2016, when women were encouraged to partake in defensive *jihad*, and July 2017, when they were urged to be involved in combat (Winter and Margolin, 2017:24). *Rumiyah*, the Islamic State magazine that took over in 2016, was clearly against women in combat by suggesting that women should focus their attention on being good wives and mothers in the articles such as, "Abide in Your Homes" (Winter and Margolin, 2017:26).

In an interview by Gardner (2015), a BBC security correspondent, former female member of IS, Aimen Deen replied "Indeed, there is no question about it. They are half of the society. They are playing an important role in many departments: the medical department, the educational department and even the tax collection department, so they are essential for the survival of Islamic State" when asked if women are essential to the group's survival. From this, we can observe that women still prove necessary for the terrorist network to exist. Despite this observation, more focus needs to put on what motivates them to join in the first place.

Chapter 5: 4Rs plus one

With the historical background of IS and women in IS in mind, the following section will discuss the motivations in depth through the 4Rs plus one theory. In the context of *jihadism*, motivations for women to join organizations such as IS are complex, with no common or obvious profile of women who join. The analysis of the sources revealed that there was a wide range of motivations from seeking acceptance and belonging, the prospect of romantic relationships and the contribution to building an Islamic state (de Leede, Haupfleisch, Korolkova and Natter, 2017:9). The research suggests that the majority of female motivations are emotional rather than ideational, which ties in with Bloom's 4Rs plus one framework, seeing as all the Rs are emotional. Each of the R's will be analyzed and discussed individually, followed by a synthesis of the information to identify patterns, comparisons within the literature and determine to what extent Bloom's theory applies to this case.

5.1 Revenge

With relation to IS women, news reports have emerged highlighting cases for revenge. In the first case, 18-year-old Aqsa Mahmood left Glasgow, Scotland in November 2013 to marry an IS fighter and become a '*jihadi*' bride'. Under the *nom de guerre*, Umm Layth, started an online blog with snippets of writing, quotes, videos, and pictures in support of the IS network, the Syrian crisis as well as personal references. In one of her poems, Umm Layth writes "Revenge. This is an answer to our imprisonment, they try to make us deaf, dumb, and blind to the light of Allah, but it will always outshine" and added at the end of the post that "This is a war against Islam..." (Swarbrick, 2015). The second notable case occurred with the siege on Baghouz and the collapse of the caliphate when thousands of extremists had fled, where one unidentified veiled woman living at the al-howl camp threatened "we will seek vengeance, there will be blood up to your knees. We have left, but there will be new conquests in the future" (Harris, 2019; Mann, 2019).

These examples clearly illustrate that despite the clear role that revenge plays in motivating women to join terrorist groups and in these cases the IS, it is not the only pull factor that plays a role. As previously mentioned, it is more likely that a combination of several pull factors motivate women to partake. It is therefore important to go further and consider the other 4Rs when studying women's motivations for joining IS.

5.2 Redemption

To better understand this factor, the International Centre for the Study of Radicalization and Political Violence conducted research on the motivations for why people joined the IS organization. They found that many of the foreign fighters who were drawn to the caliphate were looking for redemption (de Graaf and van den Bos, 2021:58). Patel and Westermann (2018:60) state a list of important motivating factors in relation to women joining IS with redemption being one of them. It is believed that by moving away from living as free women in the West to the IS caliphate in Syria and Iraq, they would receive 'divine redemption' (Strasser, 2017). This idea of 'divine redemption' has inspired and drawn a substantial number of women to IS and provided an alternative to gender-equality and the emancipation of women (Khelghat-Doost, 2017:17). For further evidence, a study conducted on 220 IS returnees, defectors, and prisoners – 182 males and 38 females – collected from September 2015 to September 2019 revealed that 2.6% of the female sample identified redemption as a motivating factor to join IS (Speckhard and Ellenberg, 2020:106). Even though literature has revealed that redemption holds some motivational power, it is not overwhelming.

5.3 Relationship

A social media survey conducted by Melanie Smith from King's College International Center for the Study of Radicalization finds evidence that the concept of being married to a brave fighter who is prepared to give his life for a greater cause is alluring for some women. This is exemplified with online messages such as "In the Holy Land I Found You My Dearest Mujahedeen" being posted by the women in the organization (Bakker and de Leede, 2015:6).

In another instance, Umm Layth wrote, on her blog "the family you get in exchange for leaving the ones behind are like the pearl in comparison to the shell you threw away into the form of the sea, which is the Ummah. The reason for this is because your love for one another is purely for the sake of Allah. ... Rejective your family is a religious duty if they make allies with the kuffar and reject *jihad*. ... Blood ties are nothing compared to living a truly Islamic life." (Petrou, 2015). Evidence suggests this factor as a strong motivation, with a statistic representing that for 29% of young women leaving Germany were motivated by marriage (de Leede, Haupfleisch, Korolkova and Natter, 2017:52).

A prime example of this is Zehra Duman, an Australian 19-year-old left home in 2015 to join her *jihadi* husband. She then helped other women to find *jihadi* husbands on various online platforms (Saltman and Smith, 2015 in Darden, 2019:5). In another case, 21-year-old Russian student Varvara Karaulova had converted to Islam and was ready to cross the border into Syria from Turkey after she had fallen in love with an Islamic State fighter online (Mirovalev, 2017). Or in the case of a Tumblr user called diary-of-a-muhajirah, who writes that after the ceremony "I just fell in love with someone – my husband! Allah has answered my prayer..." (Bjørgum, 2016:96). Whereas Samantha Sally, an American living a comfortable life in the United States married to her Moroccan husband, claims to have been tricked into going to Syria. Sally claims that in 2015, they were on a family holiday when her husband Moussa Elhassani declared he was joining the Islamic State and there was no way of returning into Turkey. They then moved to Raqqa where she claims to have been living with two Yazidi girls who El Hassani kept as slaves and continuously raped (Myre, 2018; Malm 2018).

It is not uncommon that women leave their old friends and families to move to the IS and build new relationships. An unnamed woman expresses her experience about the sisterhood she forged: "Mashallah the sisterhood in Dawla is amazing, the bonding immediate and no fake relationship, based on love *fillah* only" (Hoyle, Bradford, and Frenet, 2015:24).

5.4 Respect

Respect in comparison to the other R's remains slightly less apparent in motivating women to join IS according to the literature and evidence found. IS tries to represent a narrative of the West slandering the honor of women. These women can then regain their honor and respect by returning to Islam's core values of "chastity, modesty and piety" (Islamic State 2015c, 35, 2016a, 25). In a particular instance, a first-hand account of Umm Layth posted on her blog that in IS territory, women are not mocked like in the West but are treated with "respect and honor" (Zakaria, 2015).

5.5 Rape

The rape factor proved to be the most difficult R to find empirical evidence on regarding women in the IS. No articles specifically discussing rape were prominent. This lack of evidence could demonstrate a shortcoming in the theory. However, another point to highlight for further research would be to consider where majority of the women are coming from. For example, cases of sexual violence as a motivating factor would be significantly lower with females

joining the IS from Western countries. Furthermore, there is a possibility that this is not a shortcoming in the research, but rather an under researched area that deserves more scholarly attention.

Synthesis

As aforementioned, Bloom (2012:235) writes based on her evidence that revenge is often noted as the most compelling motivation for women to get involved. However, from the research and analysis in this thesis, relationship stands out as the key factor amongst the Rs for the case of the IS. The relationship motivational factor is the most prominent 'R' based on the literature observed, with the most evidence found for this factor which was not surprising. According to the scholars Darden (2019) and Bjørgum (2016) cited previously, the evidence found regarding relationship as a motivating factor can confirm to be critical for female IS members.

Within Bloom's framework, the redemption factor seems to hold some religious notion however it is not all encompassing and excludes the possibility of religion as a motivating factor beyond trying to repent past indiscretions. This highlights a gap to include a more holistic factor of religion within an analysis of a *jihadist* group, as literature suggests religion playing a vital role in *jihadism*.

Rape and respect proved to be the most difficult factors to find empirical evidence on. The rape factor had a lot of examples among women in the LTTE, which could either explain a shortage of information on this factor when analyzing other groups or a shortcoming of the theory. The theory proved to be useful in explaining the female motivation of rape for the LTTE, having enough evidence to support the theory. As literature suggested, in Sri Lanka, cases of sexual violence making women turn to terrorism were common. As it stands, the plus one factor of Rape, does not full apply to IS with the information that is currently available.

Evidently, testing this theory against IS has demonstrated that it is transferable and generalizable to another group in another context in many ways, but is not 100 percent explanatory. This analysis has demonstrated that this theory to some extent might prove useful and important for research on *jihadist* groups, but not for right wing extremist groups; in a similar vein it has highlighted a lack of empirical evidence to fully test Bloom's theory against IS network. There is literature and evidence to support all five Rs presented in Bloom's

framework and although this theory has been tested against IS, and holds some explanatory power, more research is required to fully appreciate the usefulness of the framework. There is still a lot of research needed to further understand women's motivations to join the IS, however, it is important to remember that one must not assume that all women in IS were lured into the organization solely based on these 5 factors mentioned in Bloom's theory.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

This thesis aimed to answer the research question "To what extent does Mia Bloom's 4Rs plus one theory explain the motivations of women joining the Islamic State?". With this question in mind, it is important to remember that women just like their male counterparts have varied and specific motivations for joining terrorist organizations. This question was answered by utilizing secondary sources. A qualitative method was adopted for research, testing a theory against a single case study. The theory used was Mia Bloom's 4Rs plus one, to explain women's motivations to join the Islamic State.

This research proves to be relevant because history has revealed that women have been participants in terrorist organizations for years spanning across different parts of the world. Although women in terrorism is not a new phenomenon, the number of women in IS has been incomparable with women from across the world to supporting and joining their *jihad*. It is important to study and comprehend the motivations of female IS affiliates. As stated throughout this thesis, women should also be considered as potential security threats. Without specific research into the motivations of women, we can often overlook the agency of women proving to be problematic because the problem cannot be solved without understanding the roots of women joining terrorist organizations.

The evidence found and used was also to identify any of the motivating factors that stood out more in comparison to the others. As the synthesis suggests, the factor of relationship stood out significantly in comparison to the other four. The factors of rape and respect proved to be difficult to find substantial evidence on, compromising the research.

Further studies are necessary to develop this case study and/or adapt the framework accordingly. Although the evidence used to test the theory are convincing to a certain extent on a stand-alone basis, future research is necessary to fully test the explanatory power of the theory. It is important to acknowledge that using this theory does not provide an explanation for all women's motivations into terrorist organizations. By addressing and applying the Rs to women in IS, this thesis intends to serve as a catalyst for more research into women's motivations to join terrorist organizations. Research that is evaluating and analyzing women's motivations to join terrorist networks, despite the territorial loss of the Islamic State, gender considerations should not be overlooked which could then dismiss women's agency within these organizations.

To conclude, as research suggests, the appeal of *jihad* remains, and women are still motivated to join the Islamic State. For all the motivating factors discussed above, women must be recognized as significant security threats and should remain a central focus for further studies. Research and analyses of women's motivations should remain a priority to academics and policy makers.

Reference List

Abbadi, S. 2015. Jordan in the Shadow of ISIS. *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses*, 7 (2): 8–12.

Abdulrazaq, T., and Stansfield, G. 2016. The Enemy Within: ISIS and the Conquest of Mosul. *Middle East Journal*, 70 (4): 525–542.

Adelaja, A.O., Labo, A. and Penar, E. 2018. Public Opinion on the Root Causes of Terrorism and Objectives of Terrorists: A Boko Haram Case Study. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 12(3): 35-49.

Agbiboa, D. E. 2013. Why Boko Haram Exists: The Relative Deprivation Perspective. *African Conflict and Peacebuilding Review*, 3(1):144–157.

Ajjoub, O. 2022. ISIS has a new leader. It's important to understand their operational capacity [Online]. Available: https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/menasource/isis-has-a-new-leader-its-important-to-understand-their-operational-capacity-%EF%BF%BC/ [2022, May 15].

Ali, H. 2020. THE RISE AND FALL OF ISLAMIC STATE: CURRENT CHALLENGES AND FUTURE PROSPECTS. *Asian Affairs*, 51(1):71-94.

Alkaff, S. H. B. O. 2014. Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi, the Imposter. *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses*, 6 (10):4–7.

Almohamad, S. 2021. Not a Storm in a Teacup: The Islamic State after the Caliphate. *GIGA Focus policy brief*, (3) [Online]. Available: https://pure.giga-hamburg.de/ws/files/24482177/web_Nahost_2021_03_en.pdf [2022, May 12].

Arraf, J. and Hubbard, B. 2022. *As Islamic State Resurges, U.S. Is Drawn Back Into the Fray* [Online]. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/01/25/world/middleeast/isis-syria.html [2022, February 18].

Ashforth, B. E., and Mael, F. (1989). Social Identity Theory and the Organization. *The Academy of Management Review*, 14(1):20–39.

Badey, Y, T. J. 2002. THE ROLE OF RELIGION IN INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM. *Sociological Focus*, 35(1): 81–86.

Bakker, E., and de Leede, S. 2015. European Female Jihadists in Syria: Exploring an Under-Researched Topic [Online]. *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism*. Available: http://www.icct.nl/app/uploads/download/file/ICCT-Bakker-de-Leede-European-Female-Jihadists-In-Syria-Exploring-An-Under-Researched-Topic-April2015(1).pdf [2022, June 20].

Banks, C. 2019. Introduction: Women, Gender, and Terrorism: Gendering Terrorism. *Women & Criminal Justice*, 29(4-5): 181-187.

Bar, S. 2004. The Religious Sources Of Islamic Terrorism. *Policy Review*, 125: 27-37.

Bergen, P. 2006. What were the causes of 9/11? [Online]. Available: https://www.prospectmagazine.co.uk/magazine/whatwerethecausesof911 [2021, April 3].

Bergen, P., Sterman, D., Sims, A., and Ford, A. 2016. ISIS in the West: The Western Militant Flow to Syria and Iraq, *New America*: 2-23.

Bigio, J., and Vogelstein, R. 2019. Women and Terrorism, Hidden Threats, Forgotten Partners. *Council on Foreign Relations Discussion Paper*.

Bjørgo, T., and Munden, H. 2020. What explains why people join and leave far-right groups? [Online]. *C-REX Center for Research on Extremism*. Available: https://www.sv.uio.no/c-rex/english/groups/compendium/what-explains-why-people-join-and-leave-far-right-groups.html [2022, May 20].

Bjørgum, M.H. 2016. Jihadi Brides: Why do Western Muslim Girls Join ISIS? *Global Politics Review*, 2(2): 92-102.

Bloom, M. 2005. Mother, Daughter, Sister, Bomber. *Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists*, 61(6): 54-62.

Bloom, M. 2007. Female Suicide Bombers: A Global Trend. Daedalus, 136(1): 94–102.

Bloom, M. 2011. Bombshells: Women and Terror. Gender Issues, 28:1-21.

Bloom, M. 2012. *Bombshell: Women and Terrorism*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Brettschneider, M. 2014. Review – Bombshell: The Many Faces of Women Terrorists [Online]. Available: https://www.e-ir.info/2014/01/10/review-bombshell-the-many-faces-of-women-terrorists/ [2022, May 14].

Bruce, G. 2013. Intrinsic and External Factors and Influences on the Motivation of Suicide Attackers [Online]. *Commentary*, 21(3). Available: https://jmvh.org/article/motivation-of-suicide-attackers/ [2022, May 22].

Callimachi, R., and Schmitt, E. 2019. ISIS Names New Leader and Confirms al-Baghdadi's Death [Online]. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/10/31/world/middleeast/isis-al-baghdadi-dead.html [2022, May 14].

Caplan, B. (2006). Terrorism: The Relevance of the Rational Choice Model. *Public Choice*, 128(1/2):91–107.

Coolsaet, R. and Renard, T. 2022. What the Zeitgeist can Tell us About the Future of Terrorism [Online]. Perspective, *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism*. Available: https://icct.nl/publication/zeitgeist-future-of-terrorism/

Crasnow, S. 2012. The Role of Case Study Research in Political Science: Evidence for Causal Claims. *Philosophy of Science*, 79 (5), 655–666.

Cunningham, K.J. 2003. Cross-Regional Trends in Female Terrorism. *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism*, 26(3): 171-195.

Cunningham, K. J. 2008. The Evolving Participation of Muslim Women in Palestine, Chechnya, and the Global Jihadi Movement in Cindy Ness (ed). *Female Terrorism and Militancy, Agency, Utility and Organization*. New York: Routledge.

Darden, J.T. 2019. Tackling Terrorists' Exploitation of Youth [Online]. *American Enterprise Institute*. Available: https://www.un.org/sexualviolenceinconflict/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/report/tackling-terrorists-exploitation-of-youth/Tackling-Terrorists-Exploitation-of-Youth.pdf [2022, May 25].

Davis, J., West, L., and Amarasingam, A. 2021. Measuring Impact, Uncovering Bias? Citation Analysis of Literature on Women in Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2): 58-76.

Davison, J. 2022. Abu Ibrahim al-Quraishi, Islamic State's slain leader [Online]. Available: https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/abu-ibrahim-al-quraishi-islamic-states-slain-leader-2022-02-03/ [2022, May 14].

Dawson, L. 2021. Bringing Religiosity Back In: Critical Reflection on the Explanation of Western Homegrown Religious Terrorism (Part II). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2): 1-21.

de Graaf, B.A., and van den Bos, K. 2021. Religious radicalization: social appraisals and finding radical redemption in extreme beliefs. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 40: 56-60.

De leede, S. 2018. Western Women Supporting IS/Daesh in Syria and Iraq – An Exploration of their Motivations. *International Annals of Criminology*, 58:43-54.

De leede, S., Haupfleish, R., Korolkova, K., and Natter, M. 2017. *Radicalisation and violent extremism – focus on women: How women become radicalised, and how to empower them to prevent radicalization.* European Parliament - POLICY DEPARTMENT FOR CITIZENS' RIGHTS AND CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS.

do Céu Pinto, M. 2004. *Islamist and Middle Eastern Terrorism: A Threat to Europe?* Soveria Mannelli: Rubbettino Editore.

Dobbins, J., and Jones, S.G. 2017. The End of a Caliphate. Survival, 59(3): 55-72.

Duyvesteyn, I. 2004. How New Is the New Terrorism? *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 27(5): 439-454.

Eisenhardt, K. M., and Graebner, M. E. 2007. Theory Building from Cases: Opportunities and Challenges. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 50 (1), 25–32.

Fink, N.C., Barakat, R., and Shetret, L. 2013. The Roles of Women in Terrorism, Conflict, and Violent Extremism: Lessons for the United Nations and International Actors. *Center on Global Counterterrorism Cooperation Policy Brief* [Online]. Available: https://www.globalcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/NCF RB LS policybrief 1320.pdf [2022, May 15].

Gardner, F. 2015. The crucial role of women within Islamic State [Online]. Available: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-33985441 [2022, June 10].

Garrison, A. 2003. Terrorism: The nature of its history. *Criminal Justice Studies: A Critical Journal of Crime, Law and Society*, 16(1):39-52.

Goldman, A. 2022. From Benghazi to Raqqa, a Kansas Woman Left a 'Trail of Betrayal' [Online]. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/06/07/us/politics/islamic-state-fluke-ekren.html [2022, June 5].

Grisard, D. 2014. History of Knowledge, Terrorism and Gender. *Historical Social Research / Historische Sozialforschung*, 39(3):82–99.

Gupta, D. K. 2009. Global Spread of Radical Ideologies: Causes, Consequences and Policies. *India Quarterly*, 65(2):109–121.

Hafez, M. 2020. The Crisis Within Jihadism: The Islamic State's Puritanism vs. al-Qa`ida's Populism. *CTC Sentinel*, 13(9): 40-46.

Hantal, B. 2012. The Coming Crises of Social Terrorism. World Affairs: The Journal of International Issues, 16(4): 110–123.

Harris, K. 2019. ISIS bride warns of 'VENGEANCE' and 'blood up to your knees' as terror group faces defeat [Online]. Available: https://www.express.co.uk/news/world/1098323/isis-news-Baghouz-syria-iraq-sdf [2022, May 20].

Hartnett, L. 2001. The Making of a Revolutionary Icon: Vera Nikolaevna Figner and the People's Will in the Wake of the Assassination of Tsar Aleksandr II. *Canadian Slavonic Papers / Revue Canadienne Des Slavistes*, 43(2/3):249–270.

Hasso, F.S. 2005. Discursive and political deployments by/of the 2002 Palestinian women

Hinnant, L. 2015. 2015 Paris attacks suspect claims deaths of 130 people was 'nothing personal' [Online]. Available: https://www.pbs.org/newshour/world/2015-paris-attacks-suspect-claims-deaths-of-130-people-was-nothing-personal [2022, May 13].

Hirschmann, K. 2000. The Changing Face of Terrorism. *Internationale Politik und Gesellschaft* (IPG), 3: 299-310.

Holtmann, P. 2014. Terrorism and Jihad: Differences and Similarities. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 8(3):140–143.

Hoyle, C., Bradford, A., and Frenett, R. 2015. *Becoming Mulan? Female Western Migrants to ISIS*. London: Institute for Strategic Dialogue.

Huckerby, J. 2015. Why Women Join ISIS [Online]. Available: https://time.com/4138377/women-in-isis/ [2022, May 14].

Hyett, N., Kenny, A., and Dickson-Swift, V. 2014. Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 9: 1-12.

Irshaid, F. 2015. Isis, Isil, IS or Daesh? One group, many names [Online]. Available: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-27994277 [2022, May 07].

Irving, S. 2012. Leila Khaled: Icon of Palestinian Liberation. Pluto Press.

Islamic State. 2016a. "The Fitrah of Mankind." Dabiq 15: 20–25.

Jackson, R. 2007. Constructing Enemies: "Islamic Terrorism" in Political and Academic Discourse. *Government and Opposition*, 42(3):394–426.

Jacques, K., and Taylor, P.J. 2008. Male and Female Suicide Bombers: Different Sexes, Different Reasons? *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 31(4): 304-326.

Jacques, K., and Taylor, P.J. 2013. Myths and Realities of Female-Perpetrated Terrorism. *Law and Human Behavior*, 37(1): 35-44.

Khalil, L. 2019. *BEHIND THE VEIL: WOMEN IN JIHAD AFTER THE CALIPHATE* [Online]. Available: https://www.lowyinstitute.org/publications/behind-veil-women-jihad-after-caliphate [2022, March 2].

Khelghat-Doost, H. 2017. Women of the Caliphate: the Mechanism for Women's Incorporation into the Islamic State (IS). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 11(1):17–25.

Klein, G. R. 2022. The Leader of ISIS is Dead, but are Targeted Killings Effective? [Online]. Perspective, The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism. Available: https://icct.nl/publication/leader-isis-dead-targeted-killings/ [2022, May 14].

Knight, A. 1979. Female Terrorists in the Russian Socialist Revolutionary Party. *The Russian Review*, 38(2):139–159.

Kusserow, S. and Pawlak, P. 2015. *Understanding jihad and jihadism* [Online]. Available: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATA(2015)557 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATA(2015)557 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATA(2015)557 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATA(2015)557 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATA(2015)557 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATA(2015)557 <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATA(2015)557 <a href="https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/557007/EPRS_ATAG/2015

Lister, C. 2016. Profiling Jabhat al-Nusra. *The Center for Middle East Policy analysis paper*, (24) [Online]. Available: https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/iwr_20160728_profiling_nusra.pdf [2022, May 12].

Mahmood, S. 2019. Negating Stereotypes: Women, Gender, and Terrorism in Indonesia and Pakistan, in A. Alexander (ed.). *Perspectives on the Future of Women, Gender, & Violent Extremism*. Washington DC: George Washington University. 11-21.

Malm, S. 2018. American ISIS wife whose son starred in sick propaganda video tells how her husband kept two sex slaves in their home after they left Indiana for Syria [Online]. Available: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-5606947/American-ISIS-wife-tells-husband-kept-sex-slaves-Raqqa-home.html [2022, May 22].

Mann, T. 2019. ISIS brides in Shamima Begum's camp stab guards 'in revenge for collapse of caliphate' [Online]. Available: https://www.mirror.co.uk/news/world-news/isis-brides-shamima-begums-camp-18800559 [2022, May 20].

Margolin, D. 2019. The Changing Roles of Women in Violent Islamist Groups, in A. Alexander (ed.). *Perspectives on the Future of Women, Gender, & Violent Extremism*. Washington DC: George Washington University. 40-50.

Mirovalev, M. 2017. How Russia spawned more ISIL fighters than most nations [Online]. Available: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/11/1/how-russia-spawned-more-isil-fighters-than-most-nations [2022, May 25].

Moore, J. [n.d]. The Evolution of Islamic Terrorism: An Overview [Online]. Available: https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/shows/target/etc/modern.html [2022, May 10].

Mueller, J., and Stewart, M.G. 2012. Terrorism and Counterterrorism since 9/11 [Online]. *National Convention of the International Studies Association*. Available: https://politicalscience.osu.edu/faculty/jmueller/ISA12ter.pdf [2022, May 21].

Myre, G. 2018. To Syria And Back: How 2 Women Escaped Their Radicalized Husbands [Online]. Available: https://www.npr.org/2018/08/08/635252666/to-syria-and-back-how-2-women-escaped-their-radicalized-husbands?t=1653413620818 [2022, May 23].

Naaman, D. 2007. Brides of Palestine/Angels of Death: Media, Gender, and Performance in the Case of the Palestinian Female Suicide Bombers. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 32 (4): 933-955.

Nalbandov, R. 2013. Irrational Rationality of Terrorism. *Journal of Strategic Security*, 6(4): 92–102.

O'Bagy, E. 2012. JIHAD IN SYRIA. *Institute for the Study of War*. Middle East Security Report 6: 1-43.

Okenyodo, K. 2016. The Role of Women in Preventing, Mitigating and Responding to Violence and Violent Extremism in Nigeria in N. C. Fink, S. Zeiger and R. Bhulai (eds.). *A Man's World? Exploring the Roles of Women in Countering Terrorism and Violent Extremism.* Hedayah and The Global Center on Cooperative Security. 100-118.

Oosterveld, W. T., Bloem, W., Farnham, N., Kayaoğlu, B., & Sweijs, T. 2017. *The Rise and Fall of ISIS: From Evitability to Inevitability*. Hague Centre for Strategic Studies.

Orav, A., Shreeves, R., and Radjenovic, A. 2018. Radicalisation and counter-radicalisation: A gender perspective. *European Parliamentary Research Service* [Online]. Available: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/EPRS/EPRS-Briefing-581955-Radicalisation-gender-perspective-rev-FINAL.pdf [2022, May 16].

Ould Mohamedou, M.M. 2014. ISIS and the Deceptive Rebooting of Al Qaeda. *GCSP Policy Paper*, (5) [Online]. Available:

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/ISIS%20and%20the%20Deceptive%20Rebooting%20of%20Al%20Qaeda.pdf [2022, May 07].

Parker, T., and Sitter, N. 2016. The Four Horsemen of Terrorism: It's Not Waves, It's Strains. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 28(2):197-216.

Patel, S., and Westermann, J. 2018. Women and Islamic-State Terrorism: An Assessment of How Gender Perspectives Are Integrated in Countering Violent Extremism Policy and Practices. *Security Challenges*, 14(2): 53-83.

Pathak, V., Jena, B., & Kalra, S. 2013. Qualitative research. *Perspectives in clinical research*, 4(3): 192.

Pearson, E. 2019. How Gender Matters in Violent Extremism & Efforts to Counter It, in F. Atamuradova, S. Macdonald & R. Burchill (eds.). *Lessons from P/CVE Research: Innovative Methods, Challenges, and Good Practices.* Abu Dhabi: Hedayah. 95- 117.

Pearson, E. and Winterbotham, E. 2017. Women, Gender and Daesh Radicalisation. *The RUSI Journal*, 162(3):60-72.

Perešin, A. 2015. Fatal Attraction: Western Muslimas and ISIS. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 9(3): 21–38.

Petrou, M. 2015. What's driving teen girls to jihad? [Online]. Available: https://www.macleans.ca/society/teen-girl-jihadists/ [2022, June 29].

Petrusenko, N. 2018. Creating the Revolutionary Heroines. The Case of Female Terrorists of the PSR (Russia, Beginning of the 20th century). Stockholm: Stockholm University.

Phelan, A. 2020. Special Issue Introduction for Terrorism, Gender and Women: Toward an Integrated Research Agenda, *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*.

Pinto, J.F. 2019. Global Religious Terrorism, A Troubling Phenomenon. *Global Journal of Human-Social Science*, 19(1): 1-7.

Primoratz, I. 1990. What is Terrorism? *Journal of Applied Philosophy*, 7(2): 129-138.

Rapoport, D. 2002. The Four Waves of Rebel Terror and September 11. Anthropoetics: the journal of generative anthropology, 8.

Rapoport, D. 2004. The Four Waves of Modern Terrorism, in A.K. Cronin and J.M. Lodes (eds.). *Attacking Terrorism: Elements of a Grand Strategy*. Washington DC: Georgetown University Press. 46-73.

Raskovic, M. 2020. (Social) Identity Theory in an Era of Identity Politics: Theory and Practice. *AIB Insights*, 21(2): 1-7.

Rausch, C. 2015. Fundamentalism and Terrorism. *Journal of Terrorism Research*, 6(2): 28-35.

Rizzo, S. 2022. Kansas woman who joined ISIS pleads guilty to terrorism charge [Online]. Available: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2022/06/07/kansas-mom-pleads-guilty-to-terrorism/ [2022, June 19].

Roggio, B. 2014. ISIS announces formation of Caliphate, rebrands as 'Islamic State' [Online]. Available:

https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2014/06/isis_announces_formation_of_ca.php [2022, May 12].

Salcedo, L.B. 2019. Terrorism: Two Faces of Women. *Marshall Center Perspectives*, 8 [Online]. Available: https://www.marshallcenter.org/en/publications/perspectives/terrorism-two-faces-women#toc-the-george-c-marshall-european-center-for-security-studies [2022, May 15].

Saleh, B.A. 2004. Economic Conditions and Resistance to Occupation in the West Bank and Gaza Strip: There is a Causal Connection. *Topics in Middle Eastern and African Economies*, 6: 1-27.

Saltman, E.M., and Smith, M. 2015. 'Till Martyrdom Do Us Part' Gender and the ISIS Phenomenon [Online]. *Institute for Strategic Dialogue*. Available: https://www.isdglobal.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/02/Till Martyrdom Do Us Part Gender and the ISIS Phenomenon. pdf [2022, May 22].

Sandler, T. 2014. The analytical study of terrorism: Taking stock. *Journal of Peace Research*, 51(2):257-271.

Schmid, A. 2004. Terrorism – The Definitional Problem. *Case Western Reserve Journal of International Law*, 36: 375-419.

Schmid, A. P. 2017. Moderate Muslims and Islamist Terrorism: Between Denial and Resistance [Online]. *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism research paper*. Available: https://icct.nl/app/uploads/2017/08/ICCT-Schmid-Moderate-Muslims-and-Islamist-Terrorism-Aug-2017-1.pdf [2022, June 12].

Schmid, A.P. 2005. Root Causes of Terrorism. *Democracy and Security*, 1(2): 127-136.

Schmid, A.P. 2013. Radicalisation, De-Radicalisation, Counter-Radicalisation: A Conceptual Discussion and Literature Review [Online]. *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism research paper*. Available: http://www.icct.nl/app/uploads/download/file/ICCT-Schmid-Radicalisation-De-Radicalisation-Counter-Radicalisation-March-2013.pdf [2022, May 21].

Schwartz, S.J., Dunkel, C.S., and Waterman, A.S. 2009. Terrorism: An Identity Theory Perspective. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 32(6): 537-559.

Schweitzer, Y. 2012. [Review of *Bombshell: The Many Faces of Women Terrorists*, by Mia Bloom]. *Bustan: The Middle East Book Review*, 3(1):80–83.

Schweitzer, Y. 2019. *The Elimination of al-Baghdadi from the Arena: A Limited Shockwave*. Institute for National Security Studies, No. 1220: 1-4.

Sheikh, J. 2016. "I Just Said It. The State": Examining the Motivations for Danish Foreign Fighting in Syria. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 10(6): 59–67.

Silke, A. 2008, Research on Terrorism: A Review of the Impact of 9/11 and the Global War on Terrorism, in H.Chen., E.Reid., J. Sinai., A. Silke & B. Ganor (eds.). *Terrorism Informatics*. *Integrated Series in Information Systems*, vol 18. Boston: Springer. 27-50.

Sjoberg, L., and Gentry, C. E. 2016. It's Complicated: Looking Closely at Women in Violent Extremism. *Georgetown Journal of International Affairs*, 17(2):23–30.

Smith, E. 2008. Pitfalls and Promises: The Use of Secondary Data Analysis in Educational Research. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 56(3), 323–339.

Speckhard, A. 2015. Female Terrorists in ISIS, al Qaeda and 21rst Century Terrorism. *Trends Research: Inside the Mind of a Jihadist* [Online]. Available: http://trendsinstitution.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/Female-Terrorists-in-ISIS-al-Qaeda-and-21rst-Century-Terrorism-Dr.-Anne-Speckhard.pdf [2022, May 19].

Speckhard, A. 2020. PERSPECTIVE: How Men and Women Were Drawn to the Hyper-Gendered ISIS Caliphate [Online]. Available: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/counterterrorism/perspective-how-men-and-women-were-drawn-to-the-hyper-gendered-isis-caliphate/ [2022, May 21].

Speckhard, A., and Ellenberg, M. 2021. ISIS and the Allure of Traditional Gender Roles. *Women & Criminal Justice*.

Speckhard, A., and Ellenberg, M. D. 2020. ISIS in Their Own Words: Recruitment History, Motivations for Joining, Travel, Experiences in ISIS, and Disillusionment over Time – Analysis of 220 In-depth Interviews of ISIS Returnees, Defectors and Prisoners. *Journal of Strategic Security*, 13(1): 82–127.

Spencer, A.N. 2016. The Hidden Face of Terrorism: An Analysis of Women in the Islamic State. *Journal of Strategic Security*, 9(3): 74-98.

Stenersen, A. 2020. Jihadism after the 'Caliphate': towards a new typology. *British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*, 47(5): 774-793.

Strasser, F. 2017. From Nazis to ISIS: Women's Roles in Violence [Online]. *United States Institute of Peace*. Available: https://www.usip.org/publications/2017/03/nazis-isis-womens-roles-violence [2022, May 22].

Strindberg, A. 2020. Social Identity Theory and the Study of Terrorism and Violent Extremism. suicide bombers/martyrs. *Feminist Review*, 81: 23-51.

Swarbrick, S. 2015. Scots "Jihadi bride" talks of "revenge" in hate-filled blog [Online]. Available: https://www.heraldscotland.com/news/13415875.scots-jihadi-bride-talks-revenge-hate-filled-blog/ [2022, May 20].

Swedish Defence Research Agency, Report no. 5062: 1-78.

Tarras-Wahlberg, L. 2020. Promises of Paradise? A Study of Official ISIS-Propaganda Targeting Women. Stockholm: Swedish Defense University.

Termeer, A. and Duyvesteyn, I. 2022. The inclusion of women in jihad: gendered practices of legitimation in Islamic State recruitment propaganda. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(2): 463-483.

Ulas, G. 2019. Female Radicalisation: Why do Women join ISIS? [Online]. Available: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/mec/2019/08/15/female-radicalisation-why-do-women-join-isis/ [2022, May 18].

United Nations Security Council (UNSC), Meeting 7565, (20 November 2015).

Vale, G. 2019. Women in Islamic State: From Caliphate to Camps. *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism policy brief* [Online]. Available: https://icct.nl/app/uploads/2019/10/Women-in-Islamic-State-From-Caliphate-to-Camps.pdf [2022, May 12].

Vargas-Bianchi, L. 2020. Qualitative theory testing by deductive design and pattern matching analysis, *SocArxiv* [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/w4gxe [2022, May 12].

Von Knop, K. 2007. The Female Jihad: Al Qaeda's Women. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 30(5): 397-414.

Weinberg, L., and Eubank, W. 2010. An End to the Fourth Wave of Terrorism? *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 33(7): 594-602.

Williams, R. H. 1996. Religion as Political Resource: Culture or Ideology? *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 35(4):368–378.

Winter, C., and Margolin, D. 2017. The Mujahidat Dilemma: Female Combatants and the Islamic State. *CTC Sentinel*, 10 (7): 23-29.

Wright, J.D. 2015. A Social Identity and Social Power Perspective on Terrorism. *Journal of Terrorism Research*, 6(3):76-83.

Yesevi, C.G. 2014. Female Terrorism. European Scientific Journal, 10(14): 579-594.

Zakaria, R. 2015. Women and Islamic Militancy [Online]. Available: https://www.dissentmagazine.org/article/why-women-choose-isis-islamic-militancy [2022, June 14].